IN THE

SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

WILLIAM CODAY,)		
Appellant,)			
vs.)	CASE	NO.	SC02-1920
STATE OF FLORIDA,)			
Appellee.))		

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

CAREY HAUGHWOUT Public Defender

JEFFREY L. ANDERSON Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 374407 Attorney for William Coday The Criminal Justice Building 421 Third Street/Sixth Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 355-7600

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant was the defendant and Appellee the prosecution in the Criminal Division of the Circuit Court of the Seventeenth Judicial Circuit, In and For Broward County. The parties will be referred to as they appear before this Court.

The Symbol "R" will denote the Record on Appeal and will include transcripts of pretrial hearings (Vol.1-8).

The Symbol "T" will denote the Transcripts.

The Symbol "SR" will denote the Supplemental Record on Appeal.

The Symbol "A" will denote the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 13, 1997, Appellant, William Coday, was charged by indictment with premeditated murder. R. 9. Jury selection began on March 25, 2002. T. 1-200. At the close of the state's case, and at the close of all the evidence, Appellant moved for a judgment of acquittal. T. 1745, 1749. Appellant's motions were denied. T. 1746, 1749. Appellant was found guilty as charged. R. 633, 822-824.

The jury's recommendation was 9-3 for the death penalty R. 831. On July 26, 2003, the trial court sentenced Appellant to death. R. 828-844. A timely notice of appeal was filed R. 850. This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

GUILT PHASE

Thaddeus Janik testified that on July 11, 1997, he went to

Appellant's apartment to check on Appellant. T. 890. Janik had been told that Appellant was distressed and suicidal. T. 890. Janik discovered a women's body on the floor. T. 893. The woman was Gloria Gomez.

Officer Chris Reyes testified that he responded to the scene on July 13, 1997, at 2pm. T. 904. Reyes was the first officer at the scene. T. 904. The body was in a pool of blood in the bedroom by the doorway. T. 901. There didn't seem like a struggle in the living room. T. 903. There was no disturbance at all. T. 903.

Detective Tom Hill testified that he was dispatched to the crime scene on July 12, 1997 at 3 pm. T. 998. The body was located in the back bedroom. T. 1000. There was gift-wrapping paper on a table with a salt and pepper set. T. 1010. Hill only noticed blood in the bedroom and only in a small area T. 1037. The blood was concentrated in one area - the lower part of the room. T. 1038. Everything was waist down for the most part. T. 1038. Nothing in the room appeared to be disturbed. T. 1038. All the blood was found in the bedroom area itself. T. 1039. The body had smears of blood instead of drops of blood. T. 1041. A phone cord was wrapped around her throat - but not as a ligature. T. 1042. Somehow during movement she got caught up in the cord. T. 1042. The cord was never applied in a restrictive manner. T. 1042. A blood splatter on a bookshelf was consistent with a blunt object striking. T. 1043. There were not many blunt force patterns. T. 1043.

Dr. Eroston Price testified he performed the autopsy on Gloria Gomez. T. 1184, 1186. The cause of death was multiple blunt and sharp force trauma injuries. T. 1250. Dr. Price was unable to conclude in this case when consciousness was lost. T. 1253. A number of different blows could have caused a loss of consciousness. T. 1253. Gomez could have been unconscious even though she was alive. T. 1253. Dr. Price was unable to tell the sequence in which the wounds were received. T. 1214. There were a total of 144 external injuries. T. 1187. Fifty-seven (57) injuries were from blunt force. T. 1187. Blunt force injuries can result from a blunt object or a fall to the ground. T. 1181. There were a total of 87 sharp force injuries. T. 1187. blunt impact injuries to the scalp and forehead were the most life-threatening injuries Gomez received, as well as stab wounds to the chest, abdomen and right lung. T. 1250. Based on the hemorrhaging she had, Gomez did not live very long. T. 1245. The wounds to her abdomen involved very little hemorrhage which means she was on her last respirations. T. 1233. Gomez Received numerous injuries to her head, neck, face and teeth. T. 1215-17. All the wounds to the head were life-threatening. T. 1224. head injuries involved significant brain damage. T. 1246. blunt impact injuries to the scalp and forehead were the most life-threatening. T. 1250. The wounds to the head could render a person unconscious. T. 1224-25. There were also lifethreatening stab wounds to the chest and abdomen. T. There were incised wounds by a knife to the legs as well as

multiple cuts to the hands. T. 1198, 1233-34. The wounds to the arms and hand are consistent with defense wounds. T. 1242. However, they might not have been defense wounds because Gomez may have been conscious at that time. T. 1243.

Oriola Laverde testified that her son and Gloria Gomez were planning to get married. T. 1295. Gomez told her that Bill told her he was diagnosed with skin cancer and was going to die. T. 1302. Gomez had promised Bill that she would see him. T. 1297.

Kirk Demyan testified that he works for Delta Airline and Appellant made arrangements on July 10, 1997, to fly from New York to Paris. T. 1409, 1411. The reservation lapsed because he did not buy his ticket by 11 pm. On July 11. T-1412. However, Appellant did purchase the ticket on July 12. T 1412. Records show that he used his credit card and boarded the flight. T. 1413. Every transaction was done in Appellant's name. T. 1415. The ticket cost \$1,285.91. T. 1415.

Al Lopez testified that he works for American Airline and that on July 11 at 3:52pm a one way ticket from Miami to New York was purchased for William Coday. T 1401-04. According to records, Appellant boarded the flight and Maria Stofka sat next to him. T. 1405.

Gary Forsythe testified that he works for U. S. A. Bank. T. 1417. Records show that Appellant' credit card was used on July 11, 1997, to purchase a Miami to New York airline ticket. T. 1424. A round trip New York to Paris ticket was purchased on July 12. T. 1425. A charge to the Marriot in New York occurred

on July 13. T. 1426.

Easter Roberts testified that she was Appellant's supervisor at the Broward County Library in 1997. T. 1428-29. Appellant was over the international language collection. T. 1429. Part of his job was to familiarize himself with the availability of books in Spanish, German and French. T. 1445. There were no authorized business trips for Appellant in July of 1997. T. 1432. Roberts had noticed Appellant changing over time. T. 1444. He looked like he was in an overload situation. T. 1444. Co-workers became concerned when he did not show up for work. T. 1435. His apartment was called but there was no answer. T. 1435.

Salisha Ramdass testified that she worked at City Credit Company and that Appellant had two accounts. T. 1459, 1483. On July 10, 1997, Appellant withdrew \$6,000 and took \$2,000 of that money to purchase traveler's checks. T. 1472, 1488. This left balances of \$645.47 in his savings account and \$653.49 in his checking account. T. 1480-81, 1484.

Eunice Polloway testified that she worked for BellSouth and that Appellant called; American Airlines on July 9, Brazilian Airlines 3 times on July 8 and 9, U. S. Airways on July 9; and United Airlines on July 9. T. 1498-1502.

Darcel Saiz testified that he previously dated Gloria Gomez and was still friends with Gomez at the time of her death. T. 1530, 1538. Saiz saw Appellant and Gomez together in January of 1997. T. 1536. Gomez told Saiz that they were boyfriend and

girlfriend. T. 1537.

Sergeant John Russell testified that he was a homicide detective in New York City. T. 1581. On October 15, 1997, he and Detective Greco took Appellant into custody and placed him under arrest. T. 1587, 1588. Appellant had possessions in a blue plastic bag. T. 1588. Appellant would later agree to speak. T. 1597. Russell walked in and out of the interview room a number of times. T. 1599. Russell saw Appellant writing on a pad. T. 1599. Russell identifies state's exhibit AAA which contains his signature on each page. T. 1599. Appellant did not offer resistance or give the police problems. T. 1615. He was very cooperative. T. 1615. Russell testified that Appellant told him when Gomez first came over they talked about marriage and children. T. 1618. Appellant told her he wanted her back permanently. T. 1618. Appellant told her if he couldn't get her back he was going to kill himself. T. 1618. Appellant offered to give her all his rare books. T. 1618. Appellant never indicated to Russell that he had planned to kill Gomez. T. 1618.

Appellant's statement to police was introduced into evidence as State's Exhibit 53. SR. In the statement it is said that when Gomez came over Appellant told her of the importance of their relationship. SR, T. 1610. Appellant told Gomez that he could not go living without her and intended to get on a plane and go somewhere and kill himself. SR, T. 1610. Appellant indicated that he was serious and had made reservations and pointed to his packed bags. SR, T. 1610. They went into the

bedroom where Appellant said that once he was gone she could have everything of his. SR, T. 1610. Appellant said he wanted Gomez back and not to leave. SR. Gomez told Appellant that he had over idolized her. SR. Appellant answered that she had told him she loved him. SR, T. 1612. Gomez responded that she never loved him the way he had thought. SR, 1612. Appellant felt himself entering a state of shock. SR, T. 1612. Appellant then broke into a demonic rage. SR, T.1612. Appellant struck Gomez first with his first and then he picked up a hammer lying on top of the yellow pages and struck her on the head. SR, T. 1612. She fell. SR, T. 1612. Appellant swung again while screaming and yelling. SR, T. 1612. Appellant lost his balance and landed on top of her. SR, T. 1612. She grabbed the hammer. SR, T. 1612. Appellant picked up another hammer and struck her again. SR, T. She was bleeding and tried to get up. SR, T. 1612. Appellant doesn't remember when, but he got a knife from the kitchen top and began to stab her. SR, T. 1612. They were both screaming. SR, T. 1613. Appellant stabbed her in the neck and held the knife there. SR, T. 1613. She muttered some words. SR, T. 1613. Appellant knew she was dead. SR. Appellant felt himself returning to normal. SR, T. 1613. Appellant stood over her and cried out "oh no, not Gloria." SR, T. 1613. He stood over her for some time and finally realized that he had killed her. SR, T. 1613. Appellant wondered why all that demonic rage had not turned itself on him. SR, T. 1613. Appellant decided that he must die. SR, T. 1613. Appellant decided to leave the country and write about what had happened. SR, T. 1613. Appellant thought that perhaps he might come to understand how this happened. SR, T. 1614. Appellant flew to Paris. SR, T. 1614. If Appellant did not succeed in killing himself, he would return and turn himself in. SR.

Detective Michael Wally testified that he used to work for the Fort Lauderdale Police Department. T. 1624. Wally received a call from Tooska Amiri, informing him of Appellant's arrest. T. 1831. Wally went to New York and met with Appellant. T. 1633. Appellant was cooperative. T. 1834. Wally inventoried a blue bag that was in Appellant's possession. T. 1638. Included in the bag was a wallet and a book called "Crepusculo." T. 1638. Appellant said he had taken Gomez's wallet so he would have something of hers. T. 1641. Appellant had no intent of robbing Gomez. T. 1641. Crepusculo consisted of two notebooks containing 250 pages. T. 1641.

Crepusculo was introduced into evidence as part of State's Exhibit #54. SR. In the writing Appellant continuously and obsessively laments over his thoughts of loving and losing Gomez:

More and more I began to fear the worst: you were leaving me. I would have most likely succumbed to total despair and madness had it not been for that one short, cryptic message you left on my answering machine that Saturday night at 10:30 pm. A message so simple yet so telling; so concise, yet so richly fraught with promise and hope: "Bill, I love you". Your tone, your tempo, the cadence, the pause - all of these things conspired to make that message sound genuine, heart-felt, true. Yes, you still loved me, you had not left me, you were just getting yourself

straightened out, pulling yourself together, but you knew where you belonged - - with me. I drew so many optimistic, positive conclusions from that message, dear Gloria, that I was able to find sufficient strength to go on, to maintain the fantasy. I will never know what your motives were in leaving that message, what effect you had intended it to have, if any, on me; all I know is that it affected me considerably, giving me hope when it appeared that all was lost.

* * *

I realized that unless I saw you and talked to you soon, I would end up in a psychiatric hospital, maybe even by the end of the week. I was losing it, dear Gloria. I could not go on any longer. My mind had become a battlefield, where a war raged incessantly on between my emotions/rationalizations/fantasies, and my besieged, but unyielding reason. This mental war had now intensified to such a degree that if occupied my entire mind, all the time. I could think about nothing else. And I felt - - I felt as if I were going to fall apart, disintegrate emotionally at any given moment.

* * *

That night, that Sunday night, as I lay in bed, I contemplated my options. Seek a psychiatrist? No, no, not that again. I didn't have the money I would need on analyst, and lots of sessions. This was not a case of normal depression or existential confusion. was something worse, something deeper. And I would be stuck in therapy forever, I thought. Broke forever. No, I couldn't go back. A long trip? Just pack up my bags and leave - - go to Paris, then just see what happens? This seemed more reasonable. More appealing and take off, Just...escape, run away. Why not? I couldn't function normally anyway. I couldn't work, I spent all my time depressed, daydreaming, away in some other world; I could no longer read or do anything. For that matter. I was already gone, for all practical purposes. I had enough money to survive for a couple of months. It might work. Suicide? Certainly death was preferable to my current mental anguish. But, I could not kill myself unless I knew you were definitely gone. I decided that running away was the best option. It left everything open. Unlike death and prolonged therapy, it possessed an element of unpredictability in outcome. But before taking off, leaving everything behind, I would first have to talk to you, see you. And to do that. I would have to take action. I would have to contact you.

* * *

I started to pace, back and forth, as the horrifying sense of helplessness and panic overwhelmed me. I felt my stomach knotting up, my breathing getting rapids, my chest tightening painfully. "This can't be happening. It can't be...surely they're not going to do this to me? Why is Gloria allowing this to happen? Why can't she call me from their phone? Why can't she talk in their presence? What is the hold these people have on her? As I asked myself these questions, aloud, I felt myself on the verge of suffocation from the chest contractions. I was sure that now madness had finally descended upon me. Now I was losing it. Finally. Completely. And all because of something so exceedingly simple as the mere failure to communicate.

Panicking from the physical responses of my body, I flung myself onto the sofa to try to catch my breath. After a few minutes, I felt myself more relaxed, my breathing under control.

I went to work that day, far off in another world. The world of a man in despair, the world of a man clutching to his last hope, knowing his sanity is at stake. A man counting the hours, the minutes.

That evening, I packed my bags. If I were doomed to go away, to lose it, I would at least try to escape. I would see Paris. If I had no hope left, I would at least die in Rome or in Greece - - not there, in that appartment, surrounded by all those memories, and that stifling atmosphere of confusion and helplessness. Could I leave without seeing you? I didn't know. But I had to believe that this was my only alternative. I couldn't envision myself in a Florida mental hospital at the end of the week. Insanity or suicide in Europe seemed infinitely better.

I was losing it better call and make those reservations for Paris...better...I didn't know what to do, or think.

The next day, Thursday, I saw Ricky at work around 4:30 pm. I told him what was happening to me mentally. He had known about the relationship, but I only told him about the intensity of it, the hopes of marriage, domestic life, etc. Now I told him I was losing it. "You need to get out of here, out of Florida, fast...or you'll crack, Bill." He gave me his pager# and told me to call. He could see what was happening to me...the others probably could too. I had been, for some time now, off in my own disturbed world. I

wanted to tell somebody what was happening but what could anybody do? They would all tell me to seek professional help!

* * *

Yes, you, \underline{my} Gloria were still there. You were going to be here tomorrow. We would talk it all out. You would come back...

I remember thinking this, repeating it over and over: "you were going to come back."

I remember saying no, it was only because of the cancer; you were not coming back...

I remember me imagining you there at my doorstep, me falling to my knees and begging forgiveness...

I remember calling your sister that night in Bogota telling her that you had left me, that I was now dying of cancer, and all was lost...

I remember getting in bed with your night gown and photos there with me...yes, you were coming back...

* * *

I waited and waited. At 10:00 I began to look at the window every 10 minutes anxiously expecting to see your car. By 11:00, you had still not reached. I kept waiting. By noon, I had begun to worry. "No, no, no...not again...no, please God no...." at 12:30 I was on the verge of dialing the Laverde's, but I didn't want to have to confront a reality I knew I could not handle a second time I began to pace the appartment. "She's got to come, she's got to come, she will, she will, she will..."

You did. Finally, around 1 pm.

I met you at the patio door. You kissed me, held my right arm, and I escorted you in.

We sat down on the sofa. Yes, you would like a beer. We began to talk. At first, just pleasantries.

...I told you I didn't care if I died; in fact, I would just assume die, because I could not continue living without you. I was already planning to leave, to go seek my end, I even showed you my packed flight bag. Nothing mattered, life was not worth preserving if I did not have you. You were my life, you had

given me new life, had enabled me to live in a way that nobody else could offer me. Your love, our love, was the only thing I cherished, the only thing I wanted...

I don't remember anything else, dear Gloria. Only returning to my senses, looking down, seeing me there on top of you, the knife plunged deep into your throat, and blood everywhere, you crying out, why Bill why, and uttering those final words...

I slowly stood up, looked down, felt your arm lose its strength, and watched you die. I watch you die every day, every night, and thousands of moments in between, dear Gloria, the same terrifying image, I see if again now, even as I write these words, thousands of miles away many weeks afterwards, it will never leave me, never, never leave me...

I left you there, blood everywhere. My God, my God what did I do, not Gloria, not Gloria, oh my God, not her, not my Gloria...

Kill myself first. I would write you, dear Gloria, my poor sweet Gloria, I would write you and tell you why I couldn't live without you, why you meant so much to me, why I had to see you again, how much I suffered during those final 5 weeks. I ran, knowing they would find you, knowing that sooner or later, they would find me, alive or dead. I ran, hoping that at least I cold find some place where I could write and tell you everything.

I ran, knowing I had confronted the demon-AGAIN! That, dear Gloria, I could never explain - - to you, to myself, to anybody. Why this horrible, dormant destructive force - - why in me? Why in me? Why did it not destroy me? Why you? Why, why, why??

I ran, dear Gloria, I felt you there, because it was too late, you had died. Forgive me, please forgive me, Gloria - - I never, ever, ever, wanted it to end like this.

SR.

Maria Stofka testified that she flew from Miami to New York on July 11, 1997. T. 1669. The person seated to her right did not display any unusual behavior. T. 170. Stofka did not notice

any injuries. T. 1671.

Tooska Amiri testified that she used to be married to Appellant. T. 1675. Appellant was arrested in Amiri's apartment in October of 1997. T. 1690. Appellant called Amiri two weeks before he showed up. T. 1691. Appellant knew he was wanted. T. 1691. Appellant indicated that he would consider turning himself in. T. 1693-94. After Appellant, arrived, he said he was going to call the police but first wanted to call family and friends to say goodbye. T. 1697. The next morning the police arrested Appellant after the phone calls. T. 1698. Amiri was not fearful of being alone with Appellant. T. 1703. Appellant's bed had a problem with its frame. T. 1704. Appellant kept a hammer near the bed in order to keep the frame in place. T. 1704. Amiri also had a hammer. T. 1704. Amiri noticed that Appellant had changed since May of 1997. T. 1705. She first thought he might have aids because he had lost so much weight and was extremely depressed and crying all the time. T. 1705.

PENALTY PHASE

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