IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO.: SC02-1920

WILLIAM CODAY,

Appellant,

VS.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

\*\*\*\*\*  
\*\*\* ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE SEVENTEENTH  
JUDICIAL CIRCUIT, IN AND FOR BROWARD COUNTY, FLORIDA,  
(Criminal Division)  
\*\*\*\*\*  
\*\*\*

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR.  
Attorney General  
Tallahassee, Florida

Leslie T. Campbell  
Assistant Attorney General  
Florida Bar No.: 0066631  
1515 North Flagler Drive  
9th Floor  
West Palm Beach, FL 33401  
Telephone: (561) 837-5000  
Facsimile: (561) 837-5108

Counsel for Appellee

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

**Point I** - There was no abuse of the trial court's discretion in denying Coday's special instruction on "heat of passion" as the standard instruction adequately explained the elements of murder and the defense of excusable homicide. Kilgore v. State, 688 So.2d 895, 897-98 (Fla. 1997).

**Point II** - In Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377, 382 (Fla. 1994) the Court found the standard premeditation instruction properly informed the jury. There was no abuse of discretion in giving the standard instruction here.

**Point III** - The judgment of acquittal was denied properly. There was both direct and circumstantial evidence of premeditation.

**Point IV** - The arrest was legal based upon the existence of a Florida warrant for Coday's arrest. Moreover, the New York police had probable cause to arrest based upon information received from citizen informants and the exigent circumstances which existed due to Coday's obvious flight from justice and murder charge.

**Point V** - Admission of Coday's handwritten statement was proper as it was authenticated under Section 90.901, Florida Statutes as it contained facts known only to the author.

**Point VI** - Coday's death sentence is proportional under



Blackwood v. State, 777 So.2d 399 (Fla. 2000).

**Point VII** - The rejection of the statutory mitigator is supported by substantial, competent evidence as Coday conformed his conduct to the requirements of law for 20 years, he worked, socialized, married, and divorced without incident.

**Points VIII and IX** - This Court's conclusion that death eligibility occurs at time of conviction does not violate the Eighth Amendment. Also, Florida's capital sentencing statute is constitutional and is not implicated by Ring v. Arizona, 120 S.Ct. 2348 (2002). See Porter v. Crosby, 840 So.2d 981 (Fla. 2003).

**Point X** - The 144 blunt and sharp force injuries inflicted during a struggle where the victim wrested away the first hammer and defended herself against the second hammer and knife Coday subsequently procured established HAC beyond a reasonable doubt.

**Point XI** - The sentencing order is sufficiently detailed and complies with section 921.141(3).

**Point XII** - Under the rationale of Blackwood, 777 So.2d at 405, a single aggravator death sentence is authorized.

**Point XIII** - The trial court did not abuse its discretion in finding that the State could cross-examine Coday's mental health experts about the German manslaughter conviction.

**Points XIV and XVI** - The court did not abuse its discretion

in denying individual voir dire of the deliberating jurors, rejecting the request for a special verdict, and in telling the jury that the import of a non-votes was a legal matter for the judge. So informing the jury did not violate Caldwell v. Mississippi.

**ARGUMENT**

**POINT I**

**THERE WAS NO ABUSE OF DISCRETION IN DENYING  
CODAY'S REQUEST FOR A "HEAT OF PASSION"  
INSTRUCTION (restated)**

Coday asserts it was error to deny his request for a special jury instruction on "heat of passion." (R.4: 606-07; T.21: 1755; T.22: 1893-97). For support he relies on a district court case which failed to recognize this Court's Kilgore v. State, 688 So.2d 895, 897-98 (Fla. 1997) opinion which is directly on point, and affirms that the standard jury instructions on premeditation and excusable homicide adequately inform the jury. There was no abuse of discretion in denying Coday's requested special instruction.

The standard of review applied to a decision to give or withhold a jury instruction is abuse of discretion. See Parker v. State, 873 So.2d 270, 294 (Fla. 2004); James v. State, 695 So. 2d 1229, 1236 (Fla. 1997) (noting court has wide discretion in instructing jury). A court's ruling will be upheld "unless the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable, which is another way of saying that discretion is abused only where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakarlis v. Canakarlis, 382 So.2d 1197, 1203 (Fla. 1980). See Trease v. State, 768 So.2d 1050, 1053, n. 2 (Fla.

2000).

Coday points to the district court case of Palmore v. State, 838 So.2d 1222 (Fla. 1st DCA 2003) to support his position that a heat of passion instruction should have been given. Palmore was charged with second-degree murder in the death of his estranged girlfriend who had asked him to return home. Upon arriving home, Palmore found her in bed with another man. Palmore, 838 So.2d at 1223. Palmore sought an instruction on heat of passion as his defense was that the depraved mind element was negated by his heat of passion. Instead, the court gave the standard instruction. Id. at 1224. The district court concluded the standard instruction "neither explains the term 'heat of passion,' in relation to second degree murder, nor recognizes Appellant's theory of defense...." Id. at 1225. However, the court did not discuss this Court's Kilgore, 688 So.2d at 897-98 opinion that the instruction for excusable homicide properly instructs the jury of the defenses to a homicide charge. Consequently, to the extent Palmore limited its analysis to a determination of the instruction's impact on a second-degree depraved mind instruction and failed to address case law directly on point, this Court should reject Palmore and follow its precedent, Kilgore, 688 So.2d at 897-98 (finding no error in denying heat of passion instruction as standard

instruction sufficiently explained premeditation).

The purpose behind the heat of passion instruction is to negate the intent element of the homicide instruction. See Kilgore, 688 So.2d at 897-98. Such is adequately explained through the premeditation and excusable homicide instructions. Id. The argument in Palmore that the instruction did not permit a finding of manslaughter if heat of passion were shown as an excuse for second degree murder is not well taken for the instant case. Here, the jury was informed that in the event it did not find Coday guilty of the main crime charged, it should consider lesser crimes. (T.22: 1893) The jury was told that excusable homicide is a defense to both first and second-degree murder and manslaughter (T.22: 1894-97). Consequently, the jury was not precluded or misinformed; the jury was required to look at the lesser charges in the event the higher charge was not proven, and reassess each lesser charge in light of the excusable homicide instruction. Palmore is not applicable to the instant case.

Moreover, in Kilgore, this Court rejected the need for a special instruction on heat of passion. Kilgore was charged with the first-degree murder of his homosexual lover as he was leaving his jail cell. Kilgore, 688 So.2d at 897. The court denied Kilgore's request for a more detailed heat of passion

instruction and gave the standard for excusable homicide. On review, this Court found no error stating:

Kilgore avers that he was denied due process under both the state and federal constitutions when his request for a special heat-of-passion instruction was denied. The special instruction would have explained heat of passion in the context of intentional homicide. Essentially, the instruction would have clarified that a person acting under the heat of passion is, in some circumstances, incapable of premeditation.<sup>5</sup> Instead, the trial judge utilized the standard jury instructions. Included in these instructions was a discussion of heat of passion in the context of excusable homicide. Further, the requirement of premeditation in a first-degree murder conviction was repeatedly emphasized. This Court has acknowledged that the standard jury instructions are sufficient to explain premeditation. *Spencer v. State*, 645 So.2d 377, 382 (Fla. 1994). We also have ruled that the trial court does not necessarily abuse its discretion in denying a special heat-of-passion instruction. *Kramer v. State*, 619 So.2d 274, 277 (Fla. 1993). After viewing these facts, we conclude that there is no indication that the trial court erred by refusing the requested instruction. The necessary elements of premeditation were presented with the standard instruction and the trial court was well within its prerogative to refuse a separate, and possibly confusing, instruction.

Kilgore, 688 So.2d at 897-98 (footnote omitted).

A similar result was reached in Hunt v. State, 753 So.2d 609, 613-15 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000). There, the court recognized Kilgore and agreed the standard instructions on premeditation and excusable homicide were proper negating the need to elaborate further on the definition of heat of passion. Hunt, 753 So.2d at 615. Based upon the foregoing, the conviction

should be affirmed.

However, even if the special instruction should have been given, such was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. DiGuilio, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1139 (Fla. 1986) (noting focus of a harmless error analysis "is on the effect of the error on the trier-of fact" and the "question is whether there is a reasonable possibility that the error affected the verdict."). The evidence established Coday pre-planned his escape from the crime scene. The day before the murder, he withdrew approximately \$6,000.00 in cash and travelers checks, and checked with airlines regarding flights to New York and Paris. He had his bags packed before Gomez arrived and confessed that when she said she had never loved him, he punched her and hit her with a hammer. When Gomez succeeded in taking the hammer from Coday, he went for another and continued the attack. Later, he obtained a knife and stabbed her. She suffered blunt, sharp force, and defensive wounds. It was not until close to the last of the 144 wounds that Gomez succumbed to the attack and died still holding Coday's arm. Coday then showered and changed clothing before taking Gomez's car to the Miami Airport and boarding a flight to New York. The prior planning for the murder and flight therefrom negates the heat of passion defense. Any error in not giving the special instruction is harmless.

(T.17: 1177-82, 1187-88, 1191-98; T.18: 1207-08, 1214-17, 1223-32, 1241-49; T.19: 1411-13, 1429-32, 1471-83, 1497-1503; T.20: 1610-14).

## POINT II

### THE PREMEDITATION INSTRUCTION WAS CORRECT (restated).

Coday claims an inadequate instruction regarding premeditation was given, and should have given the instruction he offered (IB at 35-37).<sup>8</sup> The standard instruction on premeditation was given which fully advised the jury of the factors required. See Spencer v. State, 645 So.2d 377 (Fla. 1994). There was no abuse of discretion.

Because standard jury instructions are presumed correct and are preferred over special jury instructions, the proponent has the burden of proving the court abused its discretion in giving the standard instruction. Stephens v. State, 787 So.2d 747, 755-

---

<sup>8</sup>On July 10, 1998, as one of many pre-trial motions, Coday filed an objection to the use of the standard premeditation instruction (R.1: 168-72). When the instructions were being discussed in the charge conference, Coday had no objection to the premeditation instruction, although he requested and challenged other instructions. (T.21: 1755, 1771-75). Such would lead to the conclusion the matter is not preserved. Cf. Cardenas v. State, 867 So.2d 384, 390 (Fla. 2004) (recognizing contemporaneous objection rule for jury instructions). However, because the pre-trial hearing on the death penalty motions and others could not be ascertained, the Prosecutor stipulated that all motions filed on July 10, 1998 and September 7, 1999 were either denied or overruled.



56 (Fla. 2001). See Parker, 873 So.2d at 294; James, 695 So.2d at 1236; Elledge v. State, 706 So.2d 1340 (Fla. 1997). A ruling is an abuse of discretion "where no reasonable man would take the view adopted by the trial court." Canakaris, 382 So.2d at 1203. See Trease, 768 So.2d at 1053, n. 2.

Recently, this Court defined premeditation as:

"a fully-formed conscious purpose to kill, which exists in the mind of the perpetrator for a sufficient length of time to permit of reflection, and in pursuance of which an act of killing ensues." .... Premeditation may "be formed in a moment and need only exist 'for such time as will allow the accused to be conscious of the nature of the act he is about to commit and the probable result of that act.'" ... Premeditation can be established by circumstantial evidence.

Blackwood v. State, 777 So.2d 399, 406 (Fla. 2000) (citations omitted). Such language mirrors the standard instruction. Citing McCutchen v. State, 96 So.2d 152 (Fla. 1952), Coday asserts that the standard premeditation instruction fails to properly inform the jury about "premeditated design" and that there must be proof of deliberations both before and at the time of the killing, thus, it is misleading (IB at 34-38).

In Spencer, 645 So.2d at 382, this Court quoted McCutchen for the definition of premeditation and reasoned:

Spencer also argues that the standard instruction on first-degree murder is constitutionally deficient because it fails to adequately instruct the jury that a "premeditated design" is a statutory element of first-degree murder. We find no merit to this

argument. Section 782.04(1)(a), Florida Statutes (1991), defines premeditated first-degree murder as the unlawful killing of a human being "[w]hen perpetrated from a premeditated design to effect the death of the person killed or any human being." ...

...

The standard first-degree murder instruction, which was given to the jury in the instant case, provides in relevant part that "killing with premeditation" is

killing after consciously deciding to do so. The decision must be present in the mind at the time of the killing. The law does not fix the exact period of time that must pass between the formation of the premeditated intent to kill and the killing. The period of time must be long enough to allow reflection by the defendant. The premeditated intent to kill must be formed before the killing.

Fla.Std. Jury Instr. (Crim.) 63. This instruction addresses all of the points discussed in *McCutchen*, and thus properly instructs the jury about the element of premeditated design.

*Spencer*, 645 So.2d at 382. See *Henyard v. State*, 689 So.2d 239, 245, n.5 (Fla. 1996) (finding standard premeditation instruction proper); *Brown v. State*, 565 So.2d 304, 307 (Fla. 1990). A similar determination was reached in *Default v. State*, 800 So.2d 647, 650 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001) wherein the defendant's challenge to the standard premeditation instruction (that it did not instruct the jury regarding deliberations or opportunity to reflect), again was rejected. This Court must reject this latest challenge to the premeditation instruction.

However, if a modified instruction should have been given, the failure to do so is harmless beyond a reasonable doubt. DiGuilio, 491 So.2d at 1139. The State incorporates its harmless error argument presented in Point I and notes that the evidence shows Coday planned for a rapid escape with cash and Traveler's Checks, using Gomez's car. During the attack, Coday was forced to stop to procure a second hammer and knife when he lost his first hammer to Gomez. Upon his return, he stabbed and bludgeoned Gomez, fracturing her skull and penetrating her lungs, pulmonary vein, liver, bowel, larynx and trachea, all while she was alive and struggling against the attack. (T.17: 1177-82, 1187-88, 1191-98; T.18: 1207-08, 1214-17, 1223-32, 1241-49, 1296-1303, 1335-39; T.19: 1411-13, 1429-32, 1471-83, 1497-1503; T.20: 1610-14).

The use of the knife and/or hammer shows premeditation. See Jimenez v. State, 703 So.2d 437, 440 (Fla. 1997) (opining "[t]he deliberate use of a knife to stab a victim multiple times in a vital organ is evidence that can support a finding of premeditation."), receded from on other grounds in Delgado v. State, 776 So.2d 233 (Fla. 2000); Ross v. State, 474 So.2d 1170, 1174 (Fla. 1985) (finding use of blunt instrument to brutally beat victim about head and extremities while she tried to defend herself shows premeditation); Preston v. State, 444 So.2d 939,

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